ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court Of General Sessions

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000487

RECEIVED
MAR 31 2014
SC Court of Appeals

The State, Respondent,

v.

Shondre Lamond Williams, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Carlyle R. Cromer
CCromer@TurnerPadget.com
2411 North Oak Street, Suite 301 (29577)
Post Office Box 2116
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina 29578
Telephone: (843) 213-5500
Facsimile: (843) 213-5555

Robert M. Dudek
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Appellate Division
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
Post Office Box 11589
Columbia, South Carolina 29201-1589

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in refusing to suppress the search warrant for Appellant's home when the officer who completed the accompanying affidavit did so without personal knowledge of the facts giving rise to probable cause?
- II. Did the circuit court err in refusing to suppress the drug evidence when the State failed to demonstrate a complete chain of custody by failing to explain date discrepancies?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for trafficking cocaine and possession with intent to distribute cocaine base. Trial occurred on February 25 – 27, 2013 in Spartanburg County. Appellant was convicted on the trafficking charge and of possession of cocaine base. The trial court sentenced Appellant to 25 years' imprisonment on the trafficking charge and ordered him to pay a fine of \$50,000. On the possession charge, the trial court sentenced Appellant to 10 years' concurrent imprisonment and ordered him to pay a fine of \$12,500. Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case involves a reverse-buy operation. On March 1, 2012, Investigator Travis McJunkin of the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office assisted Greenville County officers in executing a search warrant on an individual named Shondrell Williams.¹ [R. p. 12, lines 3–9; p. 152, line 24–p. 153, line 7.] The police found enough drugs in Mr. Williams' home to make him eligible for a 25-year prison sentence. [R. p. 153, lines 8–9; p. 166, lines 2–5.] However, they informed Mr. Williams that if he cooperated with

¹ This is a different individual than Appellant, who is named Shondre Williams.

them, he could avoid prison. [R. p. 153, lines 10–24.] Accordingly, he agreed to act as a confidential informant (“Informant”)² in arranging to sell cocaine to Appellant. [R. p. 12, lines 11–18; p. 153, lines 4–7; p. 154, lines 2–3.]

With the police observing, Informant called Appellant to tell him that Informant had some drugs to sell him. [R. p. 155, lines 5–23.] Appellant declined the offer. [R. p. 166, line 25–p. 167, line 5.] Appellant later called Informant back, however, and agreed to purchase cocaine. [R. p. 167, line 5.]

Meanwhile, Sergeant Joe Pharis of the Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Office contacted Lieutenant Ashley Harris, a chemist in the forensic lab, and asked him to prepare a package containing approximately 250 grams of cocaine. [R. p. 59, line 21–p. 60, line 2; p. 116, line 19–p. 117, line 3.] Investigator Matt Hutchins retrieved the package from Lieutenant Harris and delivered it to the narcotic office. [R. p. 85, line 17–p. 86, line 12.]

Once the operation was ready to proceed, Investigator McJunkin retrieved the drugs from the narcotic office and gave them to Informant. [R. p. 89, line 21–p. 90, line 15.] Investigator McJunkin and several other members of the sheriff’s office then followed Informant to Appellant’s residence. [R. p. 12, line 19–p. 13, line 1.] Informant entered Appellant’s residence and subsequently exited, got in his car, and drove away. [R. p. 19, lines 18–20.] Investigator William Tillinghast followed Informant to another location, where Informant gave Investigator Tillinghast \$4,000 that Informant said he received from Appellant in exchange for the cocaine. [R. p. 19, line 25–p. 20, line 3.] A surveillance tape captured this verbal exchange between Investigator Tillinghast and

² Shondrell Williams will hereinafter be referred to as “Informant” to reduce any confusion between him and Appellant.

Informant. [R. p. 15, lines 13–24; p. 20, line 19–p. 23, line 21; Court’s Exhibit 1.] Investigator Tillinghast concluded the recording by stating, “End of debrief at 1:04 a.m., March 2.” [R. p. 23, lines 18–21; Court’s Exhibit 1.] Investigator Tillinghast then called Investigator Hutchins, who was at the sheriff’s office, and told him that Appellant had purchased the cocaine from Informant. [R. p. 20, lines 4–9.]

While waiting on the call from Investigator Tillinghast, Investigator Hutchins had prepared certain background portions of a search warrant and affidavit for Appellant’s home. [R. p. 27, lines 7–17.] After receiving the call from Investigator Tillinghast, Investigator Hutchins completed the affidavit by adding the following sentences: “The CI then left the residence and met back with Investigator Tillinghast. Investigator Tillinghast recovered the U.S. currency from the CI. Surveillance was maintained on the residence (premise described above) by members of the Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Office Narcotics Unit after the transaction.” [R. p. 226; p. 27, line 18–p. 28, line 1.] Investigator Hutchins then printed the warrant and affidavit, drove from the sheriff’s office to the jail, handed the documents to the magistrate, and observed the magistrate read and sign them. [R. p. 27, line 7–p. 31, line 2.] The magistrate wrote “0105” underneath his signature on the second page of the affidavit. [R. p. 227.] Investigator Hutchins testified that this process, from the time he finished the task of filling out the warrant until obtaining the magistrate’s signature, would have taken “a few minutes” to complete. [R. p. 31, lines 8–15.]

Once the officers on the scene got word that the warrant was signed, they searched Appellant’s home. [R. p. 38, lines 9–17.] After Appellant was handcuffed and given a *Miranda* warning, he revealed to Investigator McJunkin and Lieutenant Cooper

that he had hidden the cocaine in the hot water heater. [R. p. 39, line 21–p. 40, line 20; p. 44, lines 1–23.] A search of the home also revealed crack cocaine hidden above a kitchen cabinet. [R. p. 94, lines 14–16.]

Investigator Dan Swad, who recovered the cocaine and crack cocaine at the scene, placed the drugs in a BEST bag. [R. p. 94, line 1–p. 95, line 11.] Investigator Swad also prepared Form B, on which he indicated that he delivered the drugs to the evidence drop box on March 3, 2012. [R. p. 95, line 24–p. 96, line 3; p. 231.] The form was notarized, and the date above the notary's signature is also March 3. [R. p. 97, line 9–p. 98, line 1; p. 231.] Investigator Swad's testimony corroborated his statement on Form B that he placed the drugs in the drop box on March 3. [R. p. 96, line 14–p. 98, line 9.]

Anita Mullinax, an evidence custodian at the sheriff's office, indicated on Form C that she retrieved the BEST bag from the drop box on March 2. [R. p. 99, lines 7–15; p. 232.] She then delivered the bag to the drug room, which is a sealed room in the evidence office. [R. p. 104, line 8–p. 105, line 18; p. 232.] Later that day, Lieutenant Harris retrieved the BEST bag; a test of the substances revealed 249.71 grams of cocaine and 4.91 grams of crack cocaine to be present. [R. p. 63, lines 8–9; p. 81, lines 5–11.]

Before trial, Appellant moved to suppress the search warrant and to suppress the drug evidence due to an incomplete chain of custody. [R. p. 9, line 8–p. 10, line 21; p. 52, lines 6–11; p. 56, lines 20–22.] The court denied the motions. [R. p. 47, line 5–p. 51, line 23; p. 127, line 12–p. 130, line 17.] After trial, the jury convicted Appellant of possession of cocaine base and trafficking cocaine. [R. p. 220, line 20–p. 221, line 1.] This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, the appellate court applies a deferential standard of review and will reverse if there is clear error. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010). In spite of this deference, however, the Court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial court's decision is supported by the evidence. *Id.*

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

ARGUMENT

I.

The circuit court erred in refusing to suppress the search warrant for Appellant's home when the officer who completed the accompanying affidavit did so without personal knowledge of the facts giving rise to probable cause.

“The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution protect citizens from unreasonable searches and seizures. Both state and federal constitutions provide that search warrants may not be issued except upon ‘probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation,’ and particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized.” State v. Dunbar, 361 S.C. 240, 246, 603 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App. 2004). Both federal and state constitutions

require an oath or affirmation before probable cause may be found. State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 128, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678 (2000).

South Carolina further mandates that a “warrant . . . shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140. “Generally, affidavits must be made on the affiant’s personal knowledge of the facts alleged in the petition. The affidavit must in some way show that the affiant is personally familiar with the facts so that he could personally testify as a witness.” Dunbar, 361 S.C. at 248 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Where an affidavit contains statements that are false or that were made with reckless disregard to the truth, the search warrant must be set aside if the affidavit’s remaining content is insufficient to establish probable cause. State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 412, 415-16, 639 S.E.2d 457, 459 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978)).

Here, no evidence exists to support the trial court’s determination that the search warrant was valid and supported by Investigator Hutchins’ personal knowledge at the time it was executed. After Investigator Tillinghast met with Informant following the sale of the cocaine to Appellant, he recorded Informant’s recounting of the events. [R. p. 23, lines 9–21; Court’s Exhibit 1.] At the conclusion of the recording, Investigator Tillinghast noted that the time was 1:04 a.m. [R. p. 23, lines 18–21; Court’s Exhibit 1.] When the magistrate signed the affidavit, he wrote “0105” under his signature. [R. p. 227.] Investigator Hutchins testified that he could not have completed the affidavit, printed it and the warrant, driven to the jail, and allowed the magistrate to read and sign the documents within sixty seconds. [R. p. 31, lines 8–13.] Investigator Hutchins

acknowledged that it would take a few minutes for these events to occur. [R. p. 31, lines 14–15.] Furthermore, Investigator Hutchins acknowledged that 1:05 is an accurate reflection of what time the magistrate signed the documents. [R. p. 31, line 20–p. 32, line 5.]

It is true that Investigator Tillinghast testified that he could not remember at what point during these events he called Investigator Hutchins to inform him of precisely what had transpired on the scene. [R. p. 20, line 4–p. 21, line 22.] However, Investigator Tillinghast acknowledged that he would not have called Investigator Hutchins until after meeting with Informant to hear his version of the events:

Q: Would you agree that you could not tell [Investigator Hutchins] what transpired until you met with the C.I. to find out? Does that make sense?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Okay. So at that time when the C.I. tells you what has transpired for you to then relay to Hutchins, at that point you're with the C.I. And we can hear that on the tape.

A: Yes, sir.

[R. p. 22, lines 9–17.] The recording does not include a phone call or any other communication between Investigators Tillinghast and Hutchins. Thus, the only conclusion to be reached from Investigator Tillinghast's testimony is that he called Investigator Hutchins after the video recording concluded at 1:04, and that it was not until then that Investigator Hutchins could complete the portion of the affidavit detailing what occurred after Informant entered Appellant's residence.

The State attempted to mitigate this evidence by eliciting testimony from Investigator Hutchins that the timestamps in the video cameras used by the sheriff's office sometimes may be inaccurate. [R. p. 33, lines 6–21.] However, neither Investigator Hutchins nor anyone else testified that the specific video camera in question

had an inaccurate timestamp. Furthermore, Investigator Tillinghast did not testify that he relied on the video timestamp when giving the time at the conclusion of the recording. The State introduced no evidence indicating that the time of 1:04 given in the video was inaccurate.

Given the evidence before the trial court—that Investigator Tillinghast completed his questioning of Informant at 1:04; that he then called Investigator Hutchins to relay what occurred at Appellant's residence; that Investigator Hutchins then had to complete the warrant and affidavit, drive to the jail, and obtain the magistrate's signature, which occurred at 1:05—it was error for the trial court not to find the warrant invalid and not to suppress the evidence discovered as a result. Dunbar is clear that affidavits must be based on personal knowledge. The only logical inference from the evidence is that Investigator Hutchins had already completed the affidavit in its entirety, executed it, and traveled to the jail with the documents before receiving confirmation of the events from Investigator Tillinghast. In other words, the evidence permits only one conclusion: that when Investigator Hutchins completed and executed his affidavit, he lacked personal knowledge of all the facts he included in that document. Thus, he acted, at a minimum, with reckless disregard of the truth when completing the portion of the affidavit detailing what occurred after Informant entered Appellant's residence. Absent these statements, the affidavit lacks sufficient facts to constitute probable cause for the search warrant.

In light of the fact that the affidavit was defective, probable cause did not exist for the search warrant. The trial court erred in finding that the warrant was valid. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the trial court's decision refusing to suppress the warrant and the evidence seized pursuant thereto.

II.

The circuit court erred in refusing to suppress the drug evidence when the State failed to demonstrate a complete chain of custody by failing to explain date discrepancies.

When offering drugs into evidence, the State must establish a complete chain of custody as far as practicable. State v. Sweet, 374 S.C. 1, 6, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2007). “Proof of chain of custody need not negate all possibility of tampering so long as the chain of possession is complete.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 92, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011). “Where an analyzed substance . . . has passed through several hands, the identity of individuals who acquired the evidence and *what was done with the evidence between the taking and the analysis must not be left to conjecture.*” Sweet, 374 S.C. at 6, 647 S.E.2d at 205 (emphasis added).

Here, the trial court erred in ruling that the State had established a complete chain of custody. Investigator Swad, who recovered the drugs at the scene, indicated on Form B that he placed the BEST bag in the drop box on March 3. [R. p. 231.] Form B was also notarized, and the notary similarly indicated the date as March 3. [R. p. 231.] When Anita Mullinax completed Form C, however, she indicated that she retrieved the BEST bag from the drop box on March 2. [R. p. 232; p. 100, lines 14–19.] On the witness stand, Investigator Swad affirmed the accuracy of Form B:

Q: If you’ll look at Defendant’s Exhibit 1, do you fill out any other documentation on that? Form B?

A: Yes, sir, form B.

Q: Is that your form?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Is your form accurate?

THE STATE: Your Honor, I’m going to --