ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 28 2014

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No.: 2013-000487

State of South Carolina, Respondent,

v.

Shondre Lamond Williams, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

ADAM L. WHITSETT
Assistant Attorney General

Joshua L. Thomas
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia St., 3rd floor

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court did not err in refusing to suppress the search warrant of Appellant’s home.

In South Carolina, a search warrant “shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record establishing the grounds for the warrant.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140. However, South Carolina law clearly allows a search warrant affidavit to be based on hearsay and recognizes that an affiant may attest to information supplied by fellow officers. State v. Dunbar, 354 S.C. 479, 488, 581 S.E.2d 840, 845 (Ct. App. 2003) cert. granted, decision vacated in part, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003); State v. Sullivan, 267 S.C. 610, 230 S.E.2d 621 (1976) (recognizing the validity of an affiant attesting to information supplied him by a fellow officer).

In this matter, Spartanburg County Investigator Matt Hutchins testified that he had personal knowledge of everything contained in the search warrant affidavit as Investigator Hutchins confirmed everything with his fellow officers who were on the scene observing each aspect of this operation. Investigator Hutchins specifically testified to this as follows:

Q: Okay. And you prepared the affidavit in the affiant section of that⁴?

A: I did.

Q: On the tape that the informant has played previously in court you hear Investigator Tillinghast tell you we got the money. What does that mean to you of what did that mean to you at that time?

A: Basically, that the informant had went to the address, had sold the target a quantity of cocaine and had received payment for the cocaine.

Q: And so when you received that phone call, what did you do?

A: I then typed the -- or finished typing the affidavit adding that part to the affidavit and then went before a magistrate to get it signed.

Q: So you did have part of the affidavit already typed out.

A: I was in the process of typing while it was going on, yes, sir.

Q: And everything that's in the affidavit, you did confirm that it occurred as it was in the affidavit before you submitted it?

A: Yes. Investigator McJunkin was the case agent, and had confirmed through him that that was the facts. And then when Investigator Tillinghast had told me that he had the money, then confirmed that. And the search warrant was signed.

Q: So you didn't sign the search warrant until after you heard -- you got the phone call from Tillinghast.

A: That's correct.

⁴ Referring to the disputed search warrant. (Tr. p. 38)(R. p. 25).

(Tr. pp. 38-40)(R. pp. 25-27). Investigator Hutchins also testified that he had spoken with the case agent, Investigator McJunkin throughout the day to obtain information for this affidavit. Specifically, he testified as follows:

Q: Okay. And the C.I. and the C.I.'s vehicle again were searched and no illegal contraband was located, checking, and they goes on from there to unrelated facts, but who -- who conveyed to you that the surveillance continued to be maintained on the residence until after the transaction and the C.I.'s vehicle had been searched again? Who informed you of that?

A: I believe it was Investigator McJunkin.

Q: And how did he inform you of that?

A: I know I had talked back and forth with him also in reference to the search warrant, because he was actually standing by for me to let him know it had been signed. So I believe that's who I would have got those facts from.

(Tr. p. 41)(R. p. 28). Investigator Hutchins further testified to the following:

Q: You say you were talking to Tillinghast or McJunkin by phone?

A: At which time? I actually --

Q: To get these facts. How did you get these facts?

A: I had spoke with both of them. I had spoke with McJunkin and I had spoke with Tillinghast....

Q: Okay. And these phone records would show that you were communicating these facts right here contemporaneous with their occurrence or at least some point before the warrant --

A: Was signed at some point, yes....

(Tr. pp. 47-48)(R. pp. 34-35). Investigator Hutchins ultimately indicated, “[b]efore I signed this search warrant these facts were conveyed to me that they had happened.” (Tr. p. 49)(R. p. 36). As such, it is clear that Investigator Hutchins had personal knowledge of the facts set forth in the affidavit.

Investigator McJunkin also confirmed that he had spoken with Investigator Hutchins several times throughout the day acknowledging, "I had several contacts with Investigator Hutchins throughout the day." (Tr. p. 28)(R. p. 15). Investigator McJunkin further indicated that he relayed a significant amount of information to Investigator Hutchins: "[t]he information that we had placed recorded phone calls to Shondre Williams in reference to the purchase or the sale of an amount of cocaine, would have given him a description of the premises to be searched, the facts of the case as I knew them at that time." (Tr. p. 30)(R. p. 17). Spartanburg County Investigator William Tillinghast also testified that he had spoken with Investigator Hutchins to supply information for the search warrant. Specifically, Investigator Tillinghast acknowledged that he told Investigator Hutchins "that our informant had left the location and that the cocaine has been given to Shondre in exchange for the U.S. Currency." (Tr. p. 33)(R. p. 20).

Further, Investigator Hutchins indicated that he did not complete the search warrant affidavit that he had been working on throughout the day until after he had spoken with Investigator Tillinghast to confirm the drug sale and the recovery of the money. (Tr. pp. 39, 42). (R. pp. 26, 29). The testimony was as follows:

Q: Okay. What portion of the affidavit was prepared in advance?

A: Well, I --

Q: Any of the facts?

A: While I was sitting there or when I'd started preparing it the part on the prior involvement in reference to the recorded phone calls showed the desire to purchase a quantity of cocaine. All of that along with the criminal history at the end would've been already typed up.

Q: Okay. So you're saying that this is on a computer and you can just insert the portion that happened when the C.I. got back to Tillinghast.

A: That's correct.

(Tr. p. 42)(R. p. 29). Investigator Hutchins next testified that upon the insertion of the information provided by Investigator Tillinghast, Investigator Hutchins had completed the search warrant affidavit. Upon completion, Investigator Hutchins printed a hard copy of this search warrant, drove it to the magistrate, and swore the affidavit on the personal knowledge he had received from his fellow officers to the magistrate, who ultimately signed the warrant. (Tr. p. 43)(R. p. 30).

Accordingly, the testimony presented in this matter clearly demonstrates that the search warrant affidavit sworn to the magistrate by Investigator Hutchins was based entirely on the personal knowledge Investigator Hutchins received and obtained from Investigator McJunkin and Investigator Tillinghast. The information contained in this affidavit was accurate and was based specifically on the personal knowledge of the Spartanburg County Sheriff's narcotics team acquired during the course of this coordinated operation. (Tr. p. 27)(R. p. 14).

Further, Appellant's assertion that the only conclusion to be drawn from the facts of this case is that Investigator Hutchins had already completed the affidavit in its entirety before speaking with Investigator Tillinghast is completely without merit. Put simply, there is no evidentiary support whatsoever for this assertion and the testimony in this matter directly contradicts this assertion.

In addition, any discrepancy between the time appearing on the undercover video camera and the time put down by the magistrate leads only to the logical conclusion that

these two clocks were not synchronized. Not surprisingly, Investigator Hutchins confirmed that there was no synchronization between the clocks answering the following:

Q: And did you synchronize your watches with video cameras before this -- this investigation took place?

A: I did not. I had no part of anything to do with the video in this.

(Tr. p. 46)(R. p. 33). Moreover, Investigator Hutchins also testified as to the inaccuracy of the clocks on undercover surveillance video cameras indicating,

Typically, there are a lot of times, though the batteries will go dead and the clocks will reset. So they may or may not be accurate.... The timestamps on them are preset. You hook it up to a computer, and then you punch in what time it was. So, you look at your watch and I look at mine. They may be minutes off what you set the time as, would be different from mine.

(Tr. p. 46)(R. p. 33). As such, there is no support whatsoever for the Appellant's contention that Investigator Hutchins did not confirm the facts set forth in the affidavit prior to swearing them to the magistrate.

In sum, in the words of Investigator Hutchins, "[b]efore I signed this search warrant these facts were conveyed to me that they had happened.... The facts that are in here would have been conveyed to me that they had happened." (Tr. p. 49)(R. p. 36). This is uncontroverted direct evidence that Investigator Hutchins had personal knowledge of the facts set forth in the search warrant affidavit, and clearly satisfies the personal knowledge requirements of South Carolina search warrant jurisprudence. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140; State v. Sullivan, 267 S.C. 610, 230 S.E.2d 621 (1976). Accordingly, the trial judge was correct in denying the Appellant's motion to suppress based on arguments that the search warrant was defective, and this appellate ground is without merit. Therefore, this Court should affirm and uphold the trial court in this matter.

II. The circuit court did not err in refusing to suppress the drug evidence in this matter as the State clearly established a full and complete chain of custody.

“Proof of chain of custody need not negate all possibility of tampering so long as the chain of possession is complete.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 92, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011)(quoting State v. Carter, 344 S.C. 419, 424, 544 S.E.2d 835, 837 (2001)). In applying this rule courts have “found evidence inadmissible only where there is a missing link in the chain of possession *because the identity of those who handled the [substance] was not established at least as far as practicable.*” *Id.* (emphasis in original). In this matter, there is no missing link in the chain of custody because the identity of each individual handling the evidence was established beyond a reasonable doubt.

The first link in the chain, Spartanburg County Investigator Dan Swad, testified that he collected the drug evidence at the scene. (Tr. pp. 257, 259-60)(R. pp. 172, 174-75). Specifically, Investigator Swad recovered the cocaine from the water heater in the Appellant’s garage and placed this evidence into a BEST evidence bag.⁵ (Tr. p. 257)(R. p. 172). In addition, Investigator Swad also located a quantity of crack cocaine on top of the cabinets in Appellant’s kitchen. (Tr. p. 259)(R. p. 174). Investigator Swad recovered the crack cocaine and placed it in the same tamper-resistant BEST evidence bag along with the cocaine. (Tr. pp. 259-60)(R. pp. 174-75). Investigator Swad did not alter or tamper with either substance at any time. (Tr. pp. 257, 259)(R. pp. 172, 174). Upon the completion of the search at Appellant’s house, Investigator Swad left the Appellant’s residence and immediately took all of the evidence to the evidence room at the Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Office and placed it in the evidence locker. (Tr. pp. 260,

⁵ This occurred after the Appellant directed law enforcement to this evidence. (Tr. p. 197)(R. p. 149).

264)(R. pp. 175, 179). All of these actions occurred on March 2, 2012. (Tr. pp. 260, 264, 275)(R. pp. 175, 179, 182).⁶

On that same date, March 2, 2012, the second link in the chain of custody, Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office evidence custodian Anita Mullinax, retrieved the evidence in this case, including the BEST bag containing the cocaine and crack cocaine recovered by Investigator Swad from the Appellant's house, from the evidence locker where Investigator Swad had put it, entered the evidence into the evidence computer log, and placed the evidence in the secure drug room of the Sheriff's Office. (Tr. pp. 275-77)(R. pp. 182-84). Ms. Mullinax further testified that this evidence had not been tampered with in any way when she initially received it. In addition, Ms. Mullinax testified that she did not alter or tamper with this evidence in any way. *Id.*

The final link in the chain of custody, Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office's chemical analyst, Ashley Harris, testified that he retrieved the evidence recovered from the Appellant's house from the drug room at the Sheriff's Office and performed a chemical analysis on it. (Tr. pp. 282, 284-85, 288)(R. pp. 189, 191-92, 195). However, Mr. Harris testified that he also inspected this evidence upon his retrieval of it. (Tr. pp. 286-87)(R. pp. 193-94). Mr. Harris testified that he specifically checked to make sure the BEST evidence bag containing these drugs had not been tampered with. (Tr. pp. 286-87)(R. pp. 193-94). Satisfied that this evidence had not been altered or tampered with in any way, Mr. Harris ultimately performed his chemical analyses on the evidence. (Tr. p. 287)(R. p. 194). All of the testing of these items resulted in both items testing positive for cocaine, one being crack cocaine and the other being cocaine. (Tr. p. 288)(R. p. 195).

⁶ However, it appears that Investigator Swad incorrectly dated one evidence form indicating this occurred on March 3, 2012, when in fact it occurred on March 2, 2012. This was a simple scrivener's error. (Tr. p. 274)(R. p. 181).

After the positive analysis, the cocaine weighed out to be 249.71 grams and the crack cocaine, after air drying, weighed out to be 4.91 grams. (Tr. p. 291)(R. p. 198). Further, Mr. Harris testified that his inspection upon retrieval of this evidence revealed that these items had not been altered or tampered with in any way. (Tr. pp. 286-87, 291-92)(R. pp. 193-94, 198-99). As such, the identity of each person who handled this drug evidence was established at trial. Accordingly, the trial court correctly denied the Appellant's motion to suppress this evidence based on a chain of custody argument.

Furthermore, the Appellant's argument that the scrivener's error on one evidence form is determinative in this matter is without merit. In South Carolina, the "[p]roof of chain of custody need not negate all possibility of tampering so long as the chain of possession is complete." State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 92, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011). In this matter, a complete chain of custody was presented. Investigator Swad testified that he recovered the drugs from the Appellant's house and immediately took the drugs to the evidence locker at the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office. (Tr. pp. 260, 264)(R. pp. 175, 179). That same day, March 2, 2012, Evidence Custodian Mullinax recovered the drugs, processed them into the lab and placed them in the secure drug room.⁷ (Tr. pp. 275-77)(R. pp. 182-84). And, the chemical analyst in this matter, Ashley Harris, testified that he retrieved the drugs from this drug room to perform his testing. (Tr. pp. 282, 284-85)(R. pp. 189, 191-92). In the face of Investigator Swad's direct testimony that he immediately took the drugs from the Appellant's house to the evidence locker and Evidence Custodian Mullinax's direct testimony that this evidence was recovered on March 2, 2013; Investigator Swad's scrivener's error on one evidence form is

⁷ Even assuming *arguendo* that this occurred on March 3, 2013, there is no break in the chain as Investigator Swad testified that he took the evidence immediately from the Appellant's house to the evidence locker where Ms. Mullinax retrieved it. (Tr. pp. 260, 264)(R. pp. 175, 179).

inconsequential and is certainly not determinative in this matter. Rather, the State of South Carolina's presentation of a full and complete chain of custody in this matter, with each link in the chain testifying that the drug evidence had not been tampered with or altered in any way prior to the chemical testing on this evidence, clearly satisfies South Carolina's chain of custody requirements. *See State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 708 S.E.2d 750 (2011). Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse his discretion in denying the Appellant's motion to suppress based on the chain of custody. Therefore, the trial court should be affirmed and this appeal should be denied.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, based on the foregoing and the applicable laws of the State of South Carolina, the trial court's decision should be affirmed and upheld in its entirety. The trial court did not abuse his discretion when he denied the Appellant's motion to suppress regarding the search warrant a. And, the trial court did not abuse his discretion when he denied the Appellant's motion to suppress regarding the chain of custody. Accordingly, the trial court should be affirmed and this appeal should be denied.